



ISSN 2976-9523

INTERNATIONAL PERSPECTIVES IN EMERGENCY, TRAUMA AND CRITICAL CARE NURSING

STUDENT JOURNAL











About the International Perspectives in Emergency, Trauma and Critical Care Nursing Journal

The International Perspectives in Emergency, Trauma and Critical Care Nursing is the journal for students completing the Birmingham City University Professional Practice Adult Critical Care and Cardiac Care programmes and is published in collaboration with the Critical Care Nurses Association of Zambia (CCNAZ). The journal is managed by the BCU HELS Centre of International Health Partnerships and on completion of the education programmes, CCNAZ have agreed to continue the journal using it as a vehicle to promote emergency, trauma and critical care nursing across Zambia and the wider central Africa region. The journal spans the whole continuum of acute and critical care nursing and includes all aspects of adult, paediatric and neonatal critical care nursing including surgery, medicine, cardiac, renal, neurosciences and rehabilitation.

This peer reviewed international journal provides a platform for emergency, trauma and critical care nurses across our partnership to share nursing practice, research, education, or management relating to emergency, trauma and critical care nursing. This will support and facilitate opportunities for nurses to learn publication skills, to enable them to share and disseminate best practice. The ethos of the journal is the promotion of quality and excellence of care for acute and critically ill patients. The journal will be published twice yearly and will be open access.

The journal is registered with an International Standard Serial Number (ISSN) reference number: 2976-9523

For more information please email: CIHP@bcu.ac.uk

Editorial Board

Critical Nurses Association of Zambia

- Sabelo Maphenduka, President Critical Care Nurses Association of Zambia, Birmingham City University Alumnae
- Mwaka Chongwe, Critical Care Nurses Association of Zambia, Birmingham City University Alumnae

Birmingham City University Professional Practice Students

- Christine Chishimba, Cardiac & Critical Care Student Representative
- Tseoute Ramone, Cardiac & Critical Care Student Representative
- Rutendo Tembo, Cardiac & Critical Care Student Representative, Birmingham City University Alumnae
- Ireen Kabwe, Emergency Nursing Representative
- Martha Mbewe, Emergency Nurse Representative

Executive Editors:

- Prof Joy Notter, Birmingham City University
- Assoc Prof Chris Carter, Birmingham City University

Contents

About the International Perspectives in Emergency, Trauma and Critical Care Nursing Journal	2
Editorial Board	2
Welcome	5
Call for Papers: Special edition Resilience and Recovery: Transforming Rehabilitation Post-Critical Illne in Zambia	
Critical Care Nurses Association of Zambia 3 rd Annual Scientific Conference	7
A Case study on Knowledge, Attitudes and Practices of Sepsis Diagnosis, Stratification and Manageme Among Master of Science Emergency and Trauma Students in Zambia	
Bridging the Gap in Sepsis Care: The Case for Enhanced Care Areas in Acute Hospitals	15
Global Connections: An Independent Evaluation of a remote international mentorship scheme for neona and critical care nurses	
Cross Sectional Survey of Critical Care Provision in Zambia	26
MSc Professional Practice Dissertation Showcase	30
Exploring the roles and function of critical care nurses as clinical leaders in Botswana	30
Exploring the views of Emergency Department Nurses at a Tertiary Hospital in Zambia on Emergency Preparedness	•
A Quality Improvement Project to Evaluate the Use of the Ventilator Care Bundle	32
Utilisation of Ventilator Care Bundle for Patients in the Emergency Department	33
A Quality Improvement Project to Improve the Nursing Care of Critically III Patients with Burns	34
Cross Sectional Survey of Critical Care Provision in Zambia	35
Enhancing Knowledge and Skills of Critical Care Nurses In Wound Care at a Leading Referral Hospit Zambia: A Quality Improvement Project	
Reduction of complications in critically ill patients needing enteral feeding in the Main Intensive Care at a tertiary hospital in Zambia: A Quality Improvement Project	
Author Guidelines	38

Welcome

This edition marks the start of the third year of the journal, and we have some exciting news. Since the last edition, the team have successfully, registered the journal with an International Standard Serial Number (ISSN) (reference number: 2976-9523). The advantage of an ISSN number includes increased visibility and recognition of the journal. When the journal was established, the aim was to provide a platform to share ideas and best practice. To do this mentoring and capacity building of local nurse researchers to undertake research is crucial and we are delighted that in this edition we include several study protocols, information of a special edition on rehabilitation following critical illness and abstracts from the Birmingham City University Master of Science showcase.

Over the last 2 years, the journal has published 13 peer reviewed articles, 7 guest editorials / opinion pieces, 3 Lessons from practice and 3 Conference proceedings / Professional Practice research showcases. Authors from Zambia, Malawi, Botswana and UK have all contributed to the success of the journal. The journal now includes students from the UK, and we are delighted that in this edition, we have two papers on sepsis, one on education (from Zambia) and one from clinical practice (UK). We are also including two research protocols and the abstracts from the Birmingham City University Professional Practice MSc Research Showcase.

This edition also includes news about a special edition on rehabilitation following critical illness and details of this year's Critical Care Nurses Association of Zambia (CCNAZ) conference. To achieve these successes, we need an editorial board, and the team recently meet, and a number of exciting plans are in place for the next two years. These include special editions on Emergency and Trauma Nursing, Cardiovascular Nursing and Renal Nursing. We look forward to providing an update at the forthcoming CCNAZ conference and we hope that you will be able to join us in Ndola.

Call for Papers: Special edition Resilience and Recovery: Transforming Rehabilitation Post-Critical Illness in Zambia

Guest Editor: Mrs Sabelo Maphenduka, President Critical Care Nurses Association of Zambia

Executive Editors: Assoc Prof Chris Carter & Prof Joy Notter, Centre for International Health Partnerships, Birmingham City University

Access to critical care services in Zambia has been improving over the last decade, with increasing specialisation for example, cardiac surgery, renal transplants and dedicated paediatric intensive care units. Rehabilitation both during and after critical care, is key to maximizing recovery from critical illness, however, it is often neglected. In consequence, a special edition will focus on rehabilitation following critical illness in autumn 2025.

Post-intensive care syndrome (PICS or PICS-P in children) is defined as new or worsening physical, cognitive, or psychological impairment resulting from prolonged critical illness (Manning et al., 2018; Rawal et al 2017). Baumgarten and Poulsen (2015) highlights critical care as a place, which makes people feel vulnerable, isolated, exhausted, and overly dependent on others. Schofield-Robinson et al's (2018) Cochrane systematic review identified the need for more research into this topic from low- and low-middle income countries. However, while it is evident we see patients with PICS and PICS-P and complications including ICU acquired muscle weakness, delirium and malnutrition, it is often not addressed. Nurses are change agents and often the conduit between the multi-disciplinary team and the patient.

International Perspectives in Emergency, Trauma and Critical Care would like to invite the submission of papers to contribute to this special issue focused on the provision of rehabilitation during and after critical illness. Papers reporting primary research, literature reviews, case studies, quality improvement and critical commentaries related to rehabilitation in and after neonatal, paediatric and adult critical care are welcome.

If you are interested in contributing but would like support, the journal does offer a mentorship / buddy scheme where you can work with an experienced author.

Papers should be submitted via email to <u>CIHP@bcu.ac.uk</u> with the subject title 'Special Edition: Rehabilitation'.

References

Baumgarten M., Poulsen I. (2015) Patients' experiences of being mechanically ventilated in an ICU: a qualitative meta-synthesis. *Scand J Caring Sci.* 29(2):205-214. doi:10.1111/scs.12177

Manning JC., Pinto NP., Rennick JE., Colville G., Curley MAQ. (2018). Conceptualizing post intensive care syndrome in children—the PICS-p framework. *Pediatr Crit Care Med.* 19(4): 298-300. doi:10.1097/PCC.00000000001476

Rawal G., Yadav S., Kumar R. (2017). Post-intensive care syndrome: an overview. *J Transl Int Med.* 5(2): 90-92. doi:10.1515/jtim-2016-0016

Schofield-Robinson OJ., Lewis SR., Smith AF., McPeake J., Alderson P. (2018). Follow-up services for improving long-term outcomes in intensive care unit (ICU) survivors. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. Issue 11. Art. No.: CD012701. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD012701.pub2.

Critical Care Nurses Association of Zambia 3rd Annual Scientific Conference

The Critical Care Nurses Association of Zambia (CCNAZ) was established in 2022, and we are delighted to announce our 3rd Annual Scientific Conference for Critical Care and Emergency & Trauma nurses. The conference will take place at the Njele Country Park in Ndola from 24th to 25th June 2025.

The theme of this year's conference is the 'Critical Care Without Walls: From Emergency Department to Rehabilitation'. The World Health Organization (2023) focus is on strengthening emergency and critical care services aiming to increase access and improve outcomes. This will result in increasing numbers of critical care survivors over the next decade. However, it is a cause for concern that rehabilitation following critical illness is often neglected and only becomes apparent when problems arise (WHO, 2024). Therefore, it is important as a specialist nursing group representing Emergency and Trauma and Critical Care Nurses, this conference will on capacity strengthening the entire patient pathway of adults, children and neonates.

Emergency and Trauma and Critical care education and practice has undergone significant changes in the last five years, and we now need to discuss ways to embed these changes into practice. In consequence, this conference will bring together critical care and emergency and trauma nurses from across the country, to add your voices to the national agenda.

This is your conference, therefore, we encourage you, as critical care and emergency and trauma nurses and students, to submit oral and poster presentation abstracts, as everyone has something to share and contribute. This will also provide an opportunity to share and celebrate research activities, quality improvement projects and best practice.

We look forward to seeing you at the conference, in what will be an exciting, informative, and packed conference.

Key dates for Abstracts

- Submission opens: 17th February 2025
- Submission closes: 17th April 2025
- Submissions should be emailed to: chris.carter@bcu.ac.uk

Abstract & Poster Information

The abstract template should be typed using Arial 11 pt; the full abstract should fit on one page and should be no longer than approx. 300 words.

The title should be as brief as possible, but long enough to indicate clearly the nature of the work. The title of the presentation should be in bold with no full stop at the end. Name(s) of author(s) should follow with their respective school(s) and department(s) etc.

Abstracts should generally conform to the following format:

- Introduction: Give a brief introduction/background to the study/project.
- Aim: Clearly state the aim and/or objectives.
- Method: Briefly describe your selection methodology: how it was undertaken, what did you do.
- Results/findings: Present your results/findings in a logical sequence in text. Please do not use tables or illustrations.
- Discussion/conclusion: Emphasise new and important aspects of the study/project and conclusions that are drawn from them.

Abstracts should include at least one and up to three academic references using the Harvard system that supports your paper.

Headings should be in bold. The title and authors should be centred, and the text justified. Abstract should not exceed 300 words (excluding references).

Poster Presentation Details

Posters must be displayed during the whole of the Conference period. Selected poster presenters will be expected to provide up to a 5-minute presentation on their poster during the poster walks. It is essential that poster authors include their email address on their poster for identification purposes. Posters for this year's conference will be displayed as electronic posters.

Abstracts must be submitted in the format outlined above. The e-poster must be no more than 1 PowerPoint slide in landscape format.

General Information

All oral and poster presentation abstracts will be published in the International Perspectives in Emergency, Trauma and Critical Care Nursing journal. Examples of previous CCNAZ Conference Abstracts can be found in:

- Selected Abstracts from Critical Care Nurses Association of Zambia (CCNAZ) 2nd Scientific Conference. *International Journal of Emergency, Trauma and Critical Care Nursing*. 1(4): 21-29
- Conference Proceedings: Future Directions in Critical Care Nursing in Zambia. International Journal
 of Emergency, Trauma and Critical Care Nursing. 1(2): 28

Any queries should be sent to chris.carter@bcu.ac.uk / CIHP@bcu.ac.uk

References

World Health Organization. (2023). Integrated emergency, critical and operative care for universal health coverage and protection from health emergencies. Executive Board. 152nd session. Agenda Item 5. Available at: www.who.int

World Health Organization. (2024). 2030 initiative. Available at: Rehabilitation 2030

A Case study on Knowledge, Attitudes and Practices of Sepsis Diagnosis, Stratification and Management Among Master of Science Emergency and Trauma Students in Zambia.

Martha Mbewe

Email: martha.mbewe@mail.bcu.ac.uk

Abstract

Background: Sepsis is a global health challenge which is a life-threatening, time-critical medical emergency. However, it is a cause for concern that healthcare workers, particularly in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), often lack adequate knowledge and training in sepsis recognition and management. This paper critically evaluates the knowledge, attitudes, and practices (KAP) related to sepsis diagnosis, stratification, and management among Master of Science (MSc) Emergency and Trauma Nursing (ETN) students in Zambia.

Method: A critical review of the literature was conducted using PubMed, CINAHL, and peer reviewed journals in January 2025.

Findings: Key themes identified included knowledge deficits, outdated curricula, and limited exposure to standardized protocols hinder effective sepsis management. In Zambia, infectious diseases are a leading cause of mortality, therefore emergency and trauma nurses must be equipped with the necessary competencies to respond swiftly. However, the current MSc ETN curriculum dedicates insufficient time to sepsis education, exacerbating gaps in knowledge and preparedness.

Conclusion: Findings suggest that enhancing sepsis training through structured educational interventions, case-based learning, and simulation-based teaching can improve proficiency. The study underscores the importance of integrating evidence-based sepsis protocols, such as Sepsis-3 criteria and early warning tools, into nursing curricula. Additionally, fostering clinical leadership among MSc ETN students can drive improvements in sepsis care.

Keywords: Sepsis, Emergency and Trauma Nursing, Knowledge-Attitude-Practice (KAP), Curriculum Reform, Sepsis Management

Sepsis is a global health problem, causing one in five deaths around the world (World Health Organization 2025). It is a life-threatening emergency and time-dependent condition that requires timely management to reduce mortality (Guarino et al., 2023). Without timely treatment, sepsis can rapidly lead to tissue damage, organ failure and death. This paper will use a case study to critically evaluate the knowledge, attitudes and practices of sepsis diagnosis, stratification and management among Master of Science (MSc) Emergency and Trauma Students at a medical University in Zambia. It will also include a critical review of the literature, change management in the context of sepsis care, areas of improvement, conclusion and recommendations. The sources of literature include databases for published research such as Pub med, CINAHL, book chapters and peer reviewed journals.

Over 140 million patients access emergency and urgent care each year in a range of settings and services worldwide (Cairns et al., 2023). Central to each of these services are the nursing teams working alongside other professional colleagues to ensure that these patients and their families receive world-class care. In 2017, an estimated 48.9 million incident cases of sepsis were reported worldwide with 11.0 million sepsis-related deaths (Rudd et al,.2020). Respiratory, gastrointestinal, genitourinary, skin and soft tissue infections are the most common sources of sepsis with pneumonia being the most common cause of sepsis (Gauer et al., 2020). A significant proportion of these cases occur in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), where limited resources and inadequate training often hinder optimal care.

Sub-Saharan Africa has a high burden of sepsis, attributed to factors such as infectious diseases (e.g., malaria, HIV/AIDS, and tuberculosis) and delayed healthcare access (Fleischmann-Struzek et al., 2020). Keeley and Nsutebu (2021) point out healthcare workers in the region often lack sufficient training in early sepsis recognition. Therefore, it is important that Emergency and Trauma nurses who are often the first point of contact for patients with sepsis in the Emergency Department (ED) possess adequate knowledge in the

management of medical surgical emergencies including sepsis. Alaro et al (2024) point out that nurses who lack adequate knowledge of sepsis management have a detrimental impact on the quality of patient care. It is therefore, a cause for concern that there is no published evidence regarding Zambian nurses' expertise of sepsis diagnosis, stratification and management, particularly student nurses pursuing a master's degree in trauma and emergency nursing (ETN).

ETN is a specialty in which the nurse cares for patients in the emergency or critical phase of their illness or injury, focusing on the level of severity and timely interventions and are often the patient's first point of contact (Emergency Nurses Association, 2019). The role they play in assessment and triage can be crucial in initiating treatment. However, recent studies have shown that nurses do not have adequate knowledge and training in sepsis assessment and management (Rahman et al., 2019, Storozuk 2019, Van den 2016). These inexperienced nurses run the risk of giving students false information, which jeopardizes the early detection of sepsis. It is also a cause for concern that standards of emergency nursing in Africa remain variable with no formal specialization as is the case in Zambia. In Zambia, ETN is a relatively new speciality in nursing, with specialist nurse education commencing in 2023 at Masters level, 2022 at Bachelor of Science and 2018 at Advanced diploma level. However, the challenge the health care system faces in Zambia is that there still remains a lack of trained ETNs able to respond to emergencies in the first critical hours with the required knowledge, skill, speed and attitude.

At a leading university in Zambia, in response to the above challenge, the ETN programme where students are prepared to manage different emergency medical and surgical conditions including sepsis education and training was recently introduced. The course requires ETNs to gain a diverse knowledge base and skill mix, to provide care that is integrated to address all time-sensitive conditions that may rapidly progress to death or disability if left untreated. ETNs are the mainstay of the emergency care workforce in the ED and many clinical settings (Nyhus and Kamara, 2017). Graduates of this programme are expected to possess the highest levels of clinical knowledge and expertise which enables them to respond to the unique needs of every patient presenting with a medical emergency or traumatic condition. This is crucial in Zambia, given the limited numbers and availability of doctors and specialist emergency medicine physicians (Kayamba et al., 2022).

The current ETN curriculum review identified that the sepsis component is inadequate as it accounts for only one hour for students to learn the theoretical component, worse still, there is no independent study content regarding the issue of sepsis and its management. In consequence, there is urgent need to review and revise the curriculum to enable students to master the knowledge, skills and develop positive attitudes to respond to this complex condition. This situation is not unique to Zambia, Rababa (2022) reported that most nursing curricula lack focus on the management of sepsis, meaning that many nursing graduates have insufficient knowledge, poor attitudes and practices related to the early assessment and management of sepsis. The situation is compounded because recent studies suggest that knowledge gaps in LMICs often stem from outdated curricula and limited exposure to standardized sepsis protocols (Otu et al., 2024; Alaro et al., 2024; Rudd et al., 2020). Further, Keeley and Nsutebu (2021) demonstrated that healthcare workers in the region often lack sufficient training in early sepsis recognition. Many African healthcare workers recognize sepsis as a critical issue but cite challenges such as understaffing and lack of diagnostic tools as barriers to timely management (Ackers et., 2020). This is supported by Simbeya et al's (2023) findings in Zambia which highlighted low awareness of the Sepsis-3 criteria among healthcare workers, with many relying on clinical intuition rather than structured diagnostic tools. However, Reynolds et al (2012) reported training of healthcare workers in Tanzania improved sepsis knowledge.

This situation needs to be urgently addressed, because as Singer et al (2016) point out that patient survival depends on an early and precise diagnosis of sepsis. In the light of this, guidelines and protocols have been developed to improve understanding of sepsis (Singer et al., 2016). Therefore, integrating advanced diagnostic tools and case-based learning could improve proficiency into the Master's programme would have two advantages, it would update the curricula and improve nurses knowledge and practice.

Keeley and Nsutebu (2021) concluded that one of the challenges faced in practice is that healthcare workers particularly those in training may view sepsis management as less critical than trauma or other emergencies due to competing priorities. Chua et al (2021) support this concluding that there is still limited knowledge among nursing students about sepsis and recommended that educational curricula of nursing studies should increase the number of sepsis lectures and use innovative techniques. Mandatory inclusion of sepsis module at all stages of nursing training, early recognition and management approach using care bundles such as

Sepsis 6 or SSC Care Bundles could improve timely response (Kim and Park, 2019). In addition, the use of structured assessment tools such as triage, early warning scoring tools and the qSOFA (quick Sequential Organ Failure Assessment) score could help to improve the quality of care and change perceptions of sepsis (Simbeya et al., 2023).

In Zambia, infectious diseases remain a leading cause of hospital admissions and mortality (Mara, 2016). However, as cited above data on sepsis-related Knowledge Attitudes and Practices (KAP) among health workers is sparse, underscoring the need for targeted studies. Effective diagnosis and management depend on healthcare workers' KAP. This is critical for addressing sepsis effectively. This is supported by Gizaw et al (2018) Ethiopian study which recommended that nurses must have a broad understanding of sepsis, as they found many nurses had misconceptions about sepsis.

It is well known that sepsis is a significant contributor to morbidity and mortality in Zambia, as in many sub-Saharan African countries (Kayamba et al., 2022). Rhee et al (2019) highlighted that 40% of sepsis-related deaths in the hospital were due to delays in ED care. However, accurate national statistics on sepsis mortality rates in Zambia are limited due to challenges in data collection and reporting (Simbeya et al., 2023; Chimese, 2012). Rababa et al (2020) assert that ETNs have a key role in the early assessment and management of sepsis, which is crucial for optimal quality of care and better patient outcomes. They argue that sepsis in critically ill patients is under-recognised and untreated due to nurses' poor knowledge and decision-making skills. From the limited evidence available inclusion of KAP for ETNs would be of benefit, because it would improve knowledge of sepsis diagnosis, stratification, and management. It is a challenge that repeatedly that global studies highlight gaps in health workers' knowledge regarding sepsis diagnosis, with many unable to identify early warning signs or apply updated guidelines such as the Sepsis-3 Definition (Singer et al., 2016; Chua et al., 2023; Friganovic et al., 2024; Fusco et al., 2023; Maina et al., 2023). Fusco et al (2023) highlights that nurses often spend the most amount of time with patients and are often the first responder when a patient deteriorates. Therefore, ETNs must have adequate knowledge of sepsis and the sepsis guidelines.

Globally, attitudes towards sepsis management are shaped by workload, perceived efficacy of interventions, and access to resources. Healthcare workers in high-income countries (HICs) often prioritize sepsis, as there has been a focus on introducing education, resources and protocols (Alhazzani et al., 2021). In contrast in many African healthcare workers recognize sepsis as a critical issue but cite challenges such as understaffing and lack of diagnostic tools as barriers to timely management (Ackers et al., 2020). Simbeya et al (2023) Zambian study found that healthcare workers often view sepsis management as less urgent compared to other critical conditions, partly due to competing priorities and resource limitations. Therefore, MSc level ETNs need to not only know about sepsis recognition and management but accept that they have a responsibility for clinical leadership and to challenge decisions made by other professional groups who may not recognize or prioritize sepsis.

Sepsis is multi-faceted and requires accurate clinical decision making and a multidisciplinary approach (Kayamba et al., 2022). Nurses contribute significantly to enhanced patient outcomes, timely diagnosis, coordinated care, improved medication management, and ongoing patient support. They accomplish this through their expertise, assessments, interventions, and close monitoring (Harrison 2023). Therefore, training MSc ETN students in early sepsis recognition and management using simplified, evidence-based guidelines would also help to bridge the student's knowledge gaps. Kalusopa et al (2023) affirmed in their study that early clinical experience improved students' clinical abilities, confidence, and preparedness for professional practice. The expected course outcomes could be reinforced by embedding them into curricula as core competences to be attained. Also outlining assessment tools and clinical rotations with the number of hours for adequate exposure. Clinical teachers or clinical faculty members must be aware of barriers that may be experienced and ensure that potential barriers are removed. The use of sepsis education strategies such as simulations, interactive case discussions, case base scenarios with protocolised posters could improve knowledge and skills (Gönülcan et al., 2024; Fernández-Ros et al., 2021). Direct observation of practical skills (DOPS), objective structured clinical examination (OSCE) and clinical competencies are also needed to assess and embed changes in practice (Fathi & Ibrahim, 2023). Further, there is a need to advocate for national sepsis guidelines that incorporate resource-limited adaptations.

Sepsis is a critical global health issue with high morbidity and mortality, particularly in resource-limited settings. Education is one way to improve the recognition and management of sepsis. Therefore, it is crucial that ETNs possess sufficient knowledge and competencies to identify and initiate appropriate management protocols for sepsis. There is a pressing need to develop educational programmes tailored to equip future

healthcare professionals with the necessary skills and knowledge to recognise and respond to sepsis cases competently. This includes increasing the number of hours and teaching strategies used regarding sepsis and only through this can the high mortality of sepsis in Zambia be reduced.

References

Ackers L., Ackers-Johnson G., Welsh J., Kibombo D., Opio S., Ackers L., Opio S. (2020). Autonomy, Evidence and Methods in Global Health. *Anti-Microbial Resistance in Global Perspective*. 11-36. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-62662-4

Alaro MG., Ashine TM., Kebede S., Hussien H., Alaro MG., Kechine Tibore T. (2024). Knowledge and Associated Factors Towards Sepsis Management Among Nurses Working in the Emergency Department of Public Hospitals in Addis Ababa. *SAGE Open Nursing*. 10: 23779608241274224. DOI:10.1177/23779608241274224

Alhazzani W., Evans L., Alshamsi F., Møller MH., Ostermann M., Prescott HC., Arabi YM et al. (2021). Surviving Sepsis Campaign Guidelines on the Management of Adults with Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in the ICU: First Update. *Crit Care Med.* 49(3):e219-e234. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0000000000004899.

Cairns C., Ashman JJ., King JM. (2023). Emergency Department Visit Rates by Selected Characteristics: United States, 2021. *NCHS Data Brief*. 478:1-8

Chimese SM., Andrews B., Lakhi S. (2012). The Etiology and Outcome of Adult Patients Presenting with Sepsis To The University Teaching Hospital, Lusaka, Zambia. *Med J Zambia*, 39(3), 19–22.

Choy C., Liaw S., Goh E., See K., Chua, W. (2022). Impact of sepsis education for healthcare professionals and students on learning and patient outcomes: A systematic review. *J. Hosp. Infect.* 122, 84–95. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhin.2022.01.004

Chua WL., Teh CS., Basri MABA., Ong ST., Phang NQQ., Goh EL. (2023). Nurses' knowledge and confidence in recognizing and managing patients with sepsis: A multi-site cross-sectional study. *J Ad Nur.* 79(2): 616–629. DOI: 10.1111/jan.15435

Emergency Nurses Association. (2019). Sheehy's emergency nursing: Principles and practice. Elsevier Health Sciences.

Fathi KY., Hussein IR. (2023). Factors influencing integration of theory into practice in clinical skills acquisition among nursing students. *Informatics in Medicine Unlocked.* 37: 101181. DOI 10.1016/j.imu.2023.101181

Fernández-Ros N., Alegre F., Huerta A., Gil-Alzugaray B., Landecho M. F., García N., Quiroga J., Lucena, J. F. (2021). Acquiring sepsis competencies through simulation-based learning bundle during intermediate care unit internship. *Medicine*, *100*(*5*), *e24483*. DOI: 10.1097/MD.000000000024483

Fleischmann-Struzek C., et al. (2020). The global burden of paediatric and neonatal sepsis: A systematic review. *The Lancet*. 6(3):223-230. DOI: 10.1016/S2213-2600(18)30063-8

Friganović A., Bešker G., Slijepčević J., Civka K., Ledinski Fićko S., Krupa S et al. (2024). Nursing Student Knowledge Related to Sepsis in Croatian, Cypriot, and Greek Universities: A Cross-Sectional European Study. *Intl J of Env Res & Public Health*. 21(7), 922. DOI: 10.3390/ijerph21070922

Fusco NM., Foltz-Ramos K., Zhao Y., Ohtake PJ. (2023). Virtual escape room paired with simulation improves health professions students' readiness to function in interprofessional teams. *Curr. Pharm. Teach. Learn.* 15: 311–318.

Gauer R., Forbes D., & Boyer, N. (2020). Sepsis: diagnosis and management. *American Family Physician*. 101(7): 409-418.

Gizaw AB, Kidane B. B, Negese D.T, Negassa EH (2018) Factors Affecting Clinical Decision-Making Practice among Nurses Working in JimmaUniversity Medical Center; Jimma Southwest Ethiopia. *Ann Nurs Pract*. 5(2): 1094.

Gicheru B., Shah J., Wachira B., Omuse G., & Maina, D. (2023). The diagnostic accuracy of an initial point-of-care lactate at the emergency department as a predictor of in-hospital mortality among adult patients with sepsis and septic shock. *Frontiers in Medicine*, 10, 1173286.

Gönülcan A., Koca A., Genç S. (2024). Evaluation of Simulation-Supported Flipped Classroom Model in the "First Hour of Sepsis Management" Training for 6th Year Medical Students. *J Ankara University Faculty of Medicine*: 77(3): 279-284. DOI:10.4274/atfm.galenos.2024.77200.

Guarino M., Perna B., Cesaro A. E., Maritati M., Spampinato M. D., Contini C., & De Giorgio R. (2023). Update on Sepsis and Septic Shock in Adult Patients: Management in the Emergency Department. *J Clin Med.* 12(9): 3188. DOI: 10.3390/jcm12093188

Harison MP. (2023). The Benefits of Multidisciplinary Teams in Sepsis Care at the Healthcare Facility Level: The Role of the Nurse. *Patient Safety and Quality Health*. https://www.psqh.com/analysis/the-benefits-of-multidisciplinary-teams-in-sepsis-care-at-the-healthcare-facility-level-the-role-of-the-nurse/

Kalusopa V. M., Katowa-Mukwato P., Chitundu K., Mvula M., Nzala S., Kabinga-Makukula M., et al., (2023). Experiences of Early and Enhanced Clinical Exposure for Postgraduate Neonatal Nursing Students at the University of Zambia, School of Nursing Sciences: Lessons and Implications for the Future. *Open Journal of Nursing*. 13(6): 352–367. DOI: 10.4236/ojn.2023.136024

Kayamba V., Nzala S., Simuyemba M. C., Zyambo C., Musenge E., Wahila R., Kalusopa V.M. (2022). Initiatives to enhance medical sub specialist training in Zambia: A cross-sectional analysis. *Med J Zambia*. 49(1), 67–74. DOI: 10.55320/mjz.49.1.36

Keeley AJ, Nsutebu E. (2021). Improving sepsis care in Africa: an opportunity for change? *Pan Afr Med J.* 40:204. DOI: 10.11604/pamj.2021.40.204.30127.

Kim HI., Park S. (2019). Sepsis: Early recognition and optimized treatment. *Tuberculosis and respiratory diseases*. 82(1): 6–14. DOI: 10.4046/trd.2018.0041

Mara D. (2016). Disease Priorities in Zambia. *Am J Trop Med & Hyg.* 95(1): 248–249. DOI: 10.4269/ajtmh.16-0130a

Maina JW., Onyambu FG., Kibet, PS. et al. (2023). Multidrug-resistant Gram-negative bacterial infections and associated factors in a Kenyan intensive care unit: a cross-sectional study. *Ann Clin Microbiol Antimicrob*. 22: 85 DOI: 10.1186/s12941-023-00636-5

Nyhus HB, Kamara MM. (2017). Quality improvement in emergency service delivery: Assessment of knowledge and skills amongst emergency nurses at Connaught Hospital, Sierra Leone. Afr J Emerg Med. 7(3):113-117. DOI: 10.1016/j.afjem.2017.04.002.

Otu A., Onwusaka O., Otokpa DE., Edadi U., Udoh U., Yougha P., Oduche C et al. (2024). Implementing health worker training on sepsis in Southeastern Nigeria using innovative digital strategies: an interventional study. *Ther Adv Infect Dis.* 11:20499361241233816. DOI: 10.1177/20499361241233816.

Rababa M., Bani Hamad D., Hayajneh AA. (2022). Sepsis assessment and management in critically III adults: A systematic review. *PLoS One*. 17(7):e0270711. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0270711.

Rahman NIA., Chan CM., Zakaria MI., Jaafar MJ. (2019). Knowledge and attitude towards identification of systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) and sepsis among emergency personnel in tertiary teaching hospital. *Australas Emerg Care*. 22(1):13-21. DOI: 10.1016/j.auec.2018.11.002

Reynolds TA., Mfinanga JA., Sawe HR., Runyon MS., Mwafongo V. (2012). Emergency care capacity in Africa: a clinical and educational initiative in Tanzania. *J Public Health Policy*. 33(Suppl 1): S126–37. DOI: 10.1057/jphp.2012.41

Rhee C., Jones TM., Hamad Y., Pande A., Varon J., O'Brien C., Anderson DJ et al.(2019). Prevalence, Underlying Causes, and Preventability of Sepsis-Associated Mortality in US Acute Care Hospitals. *JAMA*. 2(2), e187571. DOI: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.7571

Rudd KE., Johnson SC., Agesa KM, et al. (2020). Global, regional, and national sepsis incidence and mortality, 1990-2017: analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. *Lancet.* 395 (10219): 200-11. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32989-7.

Simbeya A., Lubeya MK., Mukosha M., Kabwe JC. (2023). Knowledge, Attitudes and Practices of Sepsis Diagnosis, Stratification and Management Among Healthcare Providers at The University Teaching Hospitals (UTH), Lusaka, Zambia. *The Global Health Network Collections*. DOI: 10.21428/3d48c34a.52ea8913

Singer M., et al. (2016). The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA. 315(8): 801–810.

Storozuk SA., Macleod ML., Freeman S., Banner D. (2019). A survey of sepsis knowledge among Canadian emergency department registered nurses. *Australas Emerg Care.* 22(2): 119-25. DOI: 10.1016/j.auec.2019.01

World Health Organization. (2025). Sepsis. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/sepsis

Van den Hengel L., Visseren T., Meima-Cramer P., Rood P., Schuit SJE. (2016). Knowledge about systemic inflammatory response syndrome and sepsis: A survey among Dutch emergency department nurses. *Int J Emerg Med.* 9(1): 19. DOI: 10.1186/s12245-016-0119-2

Bridging the Gap in Sepsis Care: The Case for Enhanced Care Areas in Acute Hospitals

Martine Rooney

Email: martine.rooney@mail.bcu.ac.uk

Abstract

Background: This paper critically evaluates the care provided to a patient admitted to a high-income country (HIC) hospital with sepsis, highlighting key lapses in care that contributed to a missed diagnosis and subsequent deterioration.

Method: Using a case study approach, the paper identifies systemic gaps in patient monitoring and escalation, particularly for those who require a higher level of care than standard ward-based management but do not meet the criteria for critical care admission.

Findings: This case study underscores the risks associated with the absence of an intermediate level of care, where patients are too ill for standard ward management but not deemed critical enough for critical care. The paper argues for the establishment of an enhanced care area (ECA) within acute hospitals, bridging the gap between ward-based care and critical care.

Conclusion: ECAs must be staffed by specially trained nurses with close ties to critical care. They could provide early interventions, continuous monitoring, and timely escalation for deteriorating patients for emergency patients. While resource implications must be considered, the high cost of sepsis-related complications justifies investment in enhanced care provision. This paper concludes that implementing ECAs could play a vital role in improving sepsis management, reducing mortality, and enhancing the overall quality of care for critically ill patients.

This paper critically evaluates the care provided to a patient admitted to a hospital in a high-income country (HIC) with a diagnosis of sepsis. Sepsis is defined as a life-threatening organ dysfunction resulting from an impaired host response to infection (Singer et al., 2016). The management of sepsis is reliant on early recognition, early administration of appropriate antibiotic therapy, and the management of patient's haemodynamic status (Lin, 2020). Internationally, sepsis is one of the greatest burdens on all health care systems (Meyer and Prescott, 2024). The UK Sepsis Trust (2024) estimated 245,000 people in the UK alone develop Sepsis annually, of which 48,000 will die. Therefore, to reduce its impact, health care professionals should focus on ruling sepsis out, rather than waiting to rule it in (Baker, 2022; National Institute for Clinical Excellence, 2024). Using a case study approach this paper will critically review the care provided to a critically ill patient with a missed diagnosis of sepsis and identify where care could have been improved.

The early recognition of sepsis is vital as prompt intervention has the potential to improve patient outcomes. Sepsis requires greater and more frequent levels of monitoring and treatments, possibly necessitating admission to a critical care unit (CCU) or high dependency unit (HDU) (Singer et al., 2016). There are four levels of adult critical care (CC), these include ward-based care, level 1 enhanced care area (which can be provided in a ward area), level 2 care (HDU) and level 3 (CCU) (Pittard and Parry-Jones, 2022). However, the Guidelines for the Provision of Intensive Care Services [GPICS] (Pittard & Parry-Jones, 2022) recognise these are not absolutes and there is a blurring of provision. As this case study illustrates, there are a group of patients who require higher level ward care but not HDU care. It is also important to note that whilst there is a level 1 enhanced care area within the hospital, it is solely for elective overnight recovery patients. In consequence, there is a void in the current system where emergency admissions and in-patients who deteriorate are classed as too sick for the wards but not sick enough for CC are at risk.

To protect the anonymity of the patient in this case study and to uphold the Nursing and Midwifery Council Code [NMC] (2018), the patient will be referred to as Patient X. Patient X is a 61-year-old male previously fit and well with no known previous medical history. He presented to the emergency department (ED) with a history of feeling unwell at home for several days and a recent positive Covid-19 test. The initial diagnosis was chest related sepsis, and he was prescribed antibiotics and admitted to a monitored bed in a side room

on a general medical ward. He was assessed as being stable with a National Early Warning Score (NEWS) (Royal College of Physicians, 2017) of 4.

Table 1: Admission observations and investigations					
Respiratory	12breaths/min	Venous blood	Lactate		
Rate		Gas	3.1mmols		
Oxygen	97% on Room	CRP	351mg/L		
Saturations	Air		_		
Blood Pressure	100/50 mmHg	WCC	9.1		
Hear Rate	124b/min	ECG	Nil Acute		
Consciousness	Confused-new	Chest X-ray	No		
	onset		abnormalities		
			No		
			consolidation		
Temperature	36.8 Degrees	Creatinine	130umol/L		
	centigrade				
Capillary refill	Greater than 2				

As outlined in table 1, the patient had a raised lactate level and was hypotensive, while the sepsis 6 was initiated, it was a cause for concern that he was prescribed one litre of IV fluids to be administered over a four-hour period, along with maintenance fluids, Rhodes et al, (2017) recommend 30mll/kg of IV fluids to be administered in the first three hours for initial resuscitation; Patient X weighed 78kg, equating to 780mls/hr, however, it is important to note that no weight was recorded until the patient was admitted to CC. Although there is international consensus recommending the 30ml/kg figure (Macdonald, 2022), Rhodes et al (2017) acknowledges that there is insufficient evidence to support this arbitrary figure. This is supported by Meyer and Prescott (2024) who report that 30ml/kg fluid bolus is associated with improved survival rates and advocate for close monitoring of any adverse effects. Marik et al (2019) also highlights concerns with this recommendation as it does not state whether to use, actual, predicted or ideal body weight to determine the volume of fluid to be given. Additionally, they also state that estimations of weight are generally unreliable.

Restrictive fluid practices in early management of sepsis have gained recent attention with several studies having been carried out (Macdonald, 2022). The CLASSIC trial suggests that conservative fluid management may be beneficial in certain patient groups (Meyhof et al., 2022). Their results concluded that there was no increase in mortality at 90 days in patients treated with conservative fluid management as to those treated with a more liberal approach. However, the CLOVERS trial looked at patients who received a restrictive fluid strategy and use of early vasopressors verses liberal higher volumes of fluid before vasopressor use (Monnet et al., 2023). They found that the restrictive fluid strategy group did not result in significantly lower mortality at 90 days. In consequence, the optimal volume of fluid resuscitation remains contentious and remains an ongoing debate. It also underscores the complexity of fluid management in sepsis highlighting the need for further research. (Monnet et al., 2023).

NICE (2024) have provided further guidance on fluid resuscitation in sepsis and stipulates that if a patient was hypotensive with a lactate greater than two, 500mls of IV fluids should be administered immediately. As Patient X meets the NICE (2024) criteria, had adequate fluids been administered this could have resulted in increased cardiac output and improved tissue oxygenation. However, it is important that patients such as Patient X who are at risk of deterioration are closely monitored to assess its effects and potential side effects such as organ fluid overload, pulmonary oedema and dilutional coagulopathy (Shapiro et al, 2024). If necessary, further fluid boluses should be administered, however, in Patient X's case there was no reference made to capillary refill or urine output which may have helped guide further fluid management, despite his blood pressure improving slightly and him being less tachycardic. It is a cause for concern that a brief rise in blood pressure response to fluid bolus often results in this cohort of patients being wrongly placed on general ward beds where there is limited monitoring, and deterioration may go unnoticed (Morgenstern, 2023). While Dilman et al (2024) recommends that patients requiring ongoing fluid resuscitation should be admitted to a CCU where they can receive close monitoring and have immediate access to CC nurses who are also capable of evaluating fluid responsiveness. As no referral was made to CC at this time, his bed allocation in a medical ward would have made it difficult to provide the level of close monitoring to safely and effectively care for him.

Although chest sepsis was initially suspected to be the source of sepsis due to Patient X's recent COVID-19 infection, there was no supporting evidence on his X-ray. De Waele (2024) and Lin (2020) emphasise the importance of gaining and confirming the source of sepsis promptly to target treatment. Initial review showed some improvement in his laboratory findings and vital signs however his lactate level remained elevated. However, Mr X complained of a "sore leg", yet he indicated he "felt better" resulting in a continuation of current treatment. On review of Patient X's admission documentation there was no record of skin assessment, body map, or references to his leg noted for 72 hours post-admission. The Surviving Sepsis Campaign (2018) advocates that source control measures are executed within 12 hours of diagnosis, meaning it is imperative that a full A-E assessment is carried out on admission. In addition, Grant (2018) stresses the importance of carrying out ABCDE assessments in conjunction with monitoring vital signs. However, the fact that the red area on Patient X's thigh was not identified until 72 hours later highlights further lapses in his care. Further, there is no evidence that this was then escalated over the following days (table 2). Had the red area on Patient X's thigh been identified as a possible source of infection earlier, and appropriate antibiotics initiated he may not have deteriorated further.

Table 2 - Vital signs and Interventions: Day 1-3					
Vital signs and Interventions	Day 1	Day 2 Peri-Arrest	Da y 3 Peri Arrest		
Respiratory Rate (RR) b/min	Not recorded	Not recorded	28		
Spo2 Scale 1 (%)	90%	95%	99%		
Air or oxygen	Room Air	2 litres	4 litres		
Systolic blood pressure (mm/Hg)	88	112	120		
Pulse (per min)	180	160	120		
Consciousness	Alert	Confused	Confused		
Temperature*C	37.9°C	38.1°C	38.5°C		
NEWS Score	6 - RR not record	8 absence of RR record	9		
Intervention	No referral made to Critical Care. Tachycardia resolved spontaneously.	Reviewed by ICU not for admission at present. Further 500mls fluid to be given and electrolytes to be topped up. Tachycardia to be treated with adenosine and digoxin if no improvement.	Reviewed by medical Dr and leg examined, referred to surgeons as possible cellulitis. Critical Care reviewed not for admission, to monitor leg and repeat bloods next day. Change in antibiotics to treat cellulitis. Plan for theatre for exploration and debridement of wound.		

Despite the spiral of deterioration over several days, Patient X was deemed not critically ill enough to necessitate admission to CC. However, at the same time it was evident he was too ill for standard ward care, highlighting the need for an enhanced care area (Pittard et al., 2020). Patient X had a further peri-arrest, and he was subsequently admitted to CC in multi-organ failure and sadly died. Baker (2022) highlights that all healthcare professionals are duty bound to have the necessary skills and knowledge to be aware of the signs and symptoms of sepsis and perform effective screening. NICE (2024) produced guidelines as to when healthcare professionals should suspect sepsis and when to rule it in. However, sepsis can be very difficult to diagnose as it often presents with non-specific characterisations, patients may not always display classic signs of sepsis which may result in over or under diagnosis resulting in delayed treatment or initiation of unnecessary treatments which may affect patient outcomes (Pandey et al., 2024).

While the NEWS tool has been used in the UK for over a decade and has been revised several times to its current version (NEWS-2). It has been identified as a standardised tool which can be interpreted by staff

easily, providing a track and trigger system identifying deterioration and improves communication (Nazarko, 2019; Welch, Dean and Hardin, 2022; Milne- Ives et al., 2024). For patients with suspected or confirmed sepsis, Zhang et al (2021) highlights the NEWS2 proficiently predicts mortality and diagnostic accuracy in septic patients outside of CC. Therefore, using this tool has advantages in the ward setting.

However, the effectiveness of NEWS2 has been questioned with critics arguing it is too heavily reliant on numerical scoring, it does not consider individual circumstances or trends in vital signs indicative of deterioration which could potentially influence clinical decisions (Grant, 2018). Additionally, there could be a risk of delayed intervention or inappropriate escalations as other factors such as co-morbidities and age are also not reflected in the score. The score should not be used in isolation it must be used in conjunction with clinical judgement and patient assessment (Welch, Dean and Hardin, 2022). NICE (2024) also identifies the importance of clinical decision and not an over-reliance on NEWS2.

Patient X was identified as being septic on admission and despite omissions in recorded vital signs such as respiratory rate, he triggered the NEWS2 score on several occasions, emphasis should have been placed on transferring him to a more acute area enabling a higher level of monitoring and facilitate earlier interventions (Morgenstern, 2023). It is widely accepted that rapid treatment is essential for survival. (Levy, Evans and Rhodes, 2018; Singer et al., 2018; Lin, 2021). An enhanced care area is generally set up on a general ward and staffed by nurses with additional knowledge and skills in the management of the acutely ill patient and have close ties to CC. It is designed to help minimise the risk to patients who require higher levels of monitoring and interventions that can be delivered on a ward but do not require admission to CC (Pittard and Parry-Jones, 2022). Currently only elective and emergency surgical patients are admitted to enhanced care areas, but there is a necessity to develop this service to safely care for deteriorating patients like Patient X. On review of literature little information was found regarding alternatives to post-operative enhanced care areas. This is a potential missed opportunity because, CC services provision is limited, and it is well evidenced (Pittard et al., 2020) that early CC improves outcomes. Therefore, enhanced care areas have the potential to reduce the burden of inappropriate admissions to CC but also prevent patients who are missed on the wards from further deterioration.

The case in this paper highlights the urgent need for an enhanced care area for in-patients who deteriorate. Had Patient X been admitted to an enhanced care area which could safely and effectively provide the increased level of monitoring and timely interventions his condition required, it could have prevented his death. Whilst acknowledging there are multiple lessons to be learned from this incident to prevent a recurrence, for the purpose of this assignment the development of an enhanced care area will be discussed.

The need for specialist care has become increasingly evident in today's healthcare, especially for patients who require higher levels of medical and nursing care. (Pittard and Parry-Jones, 2022) Over a decade ago, Goulding et al (2011) highlighted that it is a common occurrence within the National Health Service (NHS) to place patients in beds where their needs cannot be safely met due to shortages of beds and peak seasonal pressures, such as winter. However, it is a cause for concern that this puts patients at risk as staff often do not have the skills and knowledge to safely care for these patients. (Goulding et al., 2011). Smallwood et al (2023) produced guidelines for the Intensive Care Society (ICS) for enhanced care areas to ensure patients receive the appropriate level of care whilst bridging the gap between ward-based care and CC. Therefore, it is recommended that an enhanced care area within the hospital with close links to CC be established.

In conclusion, the establishment of an enhanced care area within acute hospitals is a necessary addition to meet the demands of the high acuity patients at risk of deterioration from sepsis. Although there will be a cost pressure with its introduction and resources required, it is worth remembering that the cost of sepsis is currently 1% of the NHS budget (The UK Sepsis Trust, 2024). The recognition and management of sepsis is one of the biggest challenges faced by todays healthcare systems (Berg et al., 2022). With careful planning, training and on-going support enhanced care areas can significantly improve outcomes for septic patients and prevent costly admissions to CC.

References

Baker E. (2022). Improving sepsis recognition through use of the Sepsis Trust's community screening tool. *Br J Community Nurs*. 27(2):69-75. DOI 10.12968/bjcn.2022.27.2.69.

Berg M., Beuningen FE., Ter Maaten JC. Bouma HR. (2022). Hospital-related Costs of Sepsis around the World: A Systematic Review Exploring the Economic Burden of Sepsis. *J Crit Care*. 71:154096. DOI 10.1016/j.jcrc.2022.154096

De Waele JJ. (2024). Importance of Timely and Adequate Source Control in Sepsis and Septic Shock. *J Int Med.* 4(3): 281-286. doi.org/10.1016/j.jointm.2024.01.002.

Dilman Y., Bethel C., Ramesh N., Myers C. (2024). Nurse-Driven Fluid Responsiveness Evaluation in Patients with Septic Shock: A Quality Improvement Initiative. *Crit Care Nurse*. 44(1):13-20. DOI 10.4037/ccn2024984.

Grant S. (2018). Limitations of track and trigger systems and the National Early Warning Score. Part 1: areas of contention. *Brit J Nurs.* 27(11): 624–631. DOI 10.12968/bjon.2018.27.11.624.

Levy MM., Evans LE., Rhodes, A. (2018). The Surviving Sepsis Campaign Bundle: 2018 Update. *Int Care Med.* 44(6): 925–928. DOI: 10.1007/s00134-018-5085-0.

Lin Y. (2020). Effectiveness of the Sepsis Six Bundle in the Management of Acute Adult Sepsis in the UK. *Emerg Nurse*. 29(2). 26-29. DOI 10.7748/en.2020.e2064.

Macdonald S. (2022). Fluid Resuscitation in Patients Presenting with Sepsis: Current Insights. *Open Access Emer Med.* 14(14): 633–638. DOI 10.2147/OAEM.S363520.

Marik PE., Byrne L. Van Haren, F. (2020). Fluid resuscitation in sepsis: The great 30 mL per kg hoax. *J Th Dis.* 12(1): S37–S47. DOI 10.21037/jtd.2019.12.84.

Meyer NJ., Prescott HC. (2024). Sepsis and Septic Shock. *NEJM.* 391(22): 2133–2146. DOI 10.1056/nejmra2403213.

Meyhoff TS., Hjortrup PB., Wetterslev J., Sivapalan P., Laake J.H., Cronhjort M et al. (2022). Restriction of Intravenous Fluid in ICU Patients with Septic Shock. *NEJM.* 386(26): 2459–2470. DOI 10.1056/nejmoa2202707.

Milne-Ives M., Riccalton V., Plummer C., Threlfall L., Cong C., Ananthakrishnan A. Meinert E. (2024). Modifications to the National Early Warning Score: A Scoping Review Protocol. *BMJ Open*, 14: e089061 DOI 10.1136/bmjopen-2024-089061.

Monnet X., Lai C. Teboul JL. (2023). How I personalize fluid therapy in septic shock? *Crit Care*, 27(1): 123 DOI 10.1186/s13054-023-04363-3.

Morgenstern J. (2023). The CLOVERS Trial: Does Nothing Matter in Sepsis? *Emergency Medicine News*. 45(3): 1-22. DOI: 10.1097/01.EEM.0000922720.76042.fd

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2024). Sepsis: recognition, Diagnosis and Early Management. Guidance and Guidelines. Available at: www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng51

Nazarko L. (2019). A good idea badly implemented? Revised National Early Warning Score 2 in community settings. *Br J Community Nurs*. 24(6): 291–294. DOI: 10.12968/bjcn.2019.24.6.291.

Pandey SR., Driver BE., Prekker ME., Scott N., Ringstrom SJ., Maruggi E et al. (2024). Factors and outcomes associated with under- and overdiagnosis of sepsis in the first hour of emergency department care. *Acad Emer Med.* DOI: 10.1111/acem.15074.

Pittard A., Goddard A., Elder A. and Taylor, J. (2020). *Enhanced Care Guidance on Service Development in the Hospital Setting*. Available at: https://ficm.ac.uk/sites/ficm/files/documents/2021-10/enhanced_care_guidance_press_release_-20_may_2020.pdf

Pittard A. Parry-Jones, J. (2022). Guidelines for the Provision of Intensive Care Services. Available at: https://ficm.ac.uk/standards/guidelines-for-the-provision-of-intensive-care-services

Rhodes A., Evans LE., Alhazzani W., Levy MM., Antonelli M., Ferrer R et al. (2017). Surviving Sepsis Campaign: International Guidelines for Management of Sepsis and Septic Shock: 2016. *Int Care Med.* 43(3): 304–377. DOI: 10.1007/s00134-017-4683-6.

Royal College of Physicians (2017). *National Early Warning Score (NEWS) 2 Standardising the Assessment of Acute-Illness Severity in the NHS*. Available at: https://www.rcp.ac.uk/media/a4ibkkbf/news2-final-report 0.0.pdf

Shapiro NI., Douglas IS., Brower RG., Brown SM., Exline MC., Ginde AA et al. (2023). Early Restrictive or Liberal Management for Sepsis-Induced Hypotension. *NEJM*. 388(6): 499-510. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2212663

Singer M., Deutschman C.S. Seymour CW. (2016). The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). *JAMA*. 315(8): 801–810. DOI: 10.1001/jama.2016.0287.

The UK Sepsis Trust (2024). *About sepsis - The UK Sepsis Trust*. The UK Sepsis Trust. Available at: https://sepsistrust.org/about-sepsis/

Welch J., Dean J. Hartin, J. (2022). Using NEWS2: an Essential Component of Reliable Clinical Assessment. *Clin Med.* 22(6): 509–513. DOI: 10.7861/clinmed.2022-0435

Zhang K., Zhang X., Ding W., Xuan N., Tian B., Huang T et al. (2021). National Early Warning Score Does Not Accurately Predict Mortality for Patients with Infection Outside the Intensive Care Unit: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Front Med.* 8: 704358. DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2021.704358

Global Connections: An Independent Evaluation of a remote international mentorship scheme for neonatal and critical care nurses

Sabelo Maphenduka, Rutendo Tembo, Lungowe Muyunda, Chris Carter, Prof Joy Notter

Email: rutendo.tembo@mail.bcu.ac.uk

Abstract

Introduction: Mentorship is globally accepted as an important approach to developing nursing practice and careers. The term mentorship has different meanings and is often used interchangeably with other terms, which can result in confusion. This proposed research study will evaluate the experiences of mentors and mentees involved in a remote mentorship project.

Aim: To evaluate the experiences of critical care and neonatal nurses involved in a remote mentorship project between Zambia, Australia and the UK.

Methods & analysis: Documentary data analysis of partnership project documentation will be used to provide context and detail to the evaluation. An exploratory descriptive qualitative methodology using individual interviews will facilitate exploration of both mentors and mentees' experiences. Daglish et al (2018) READ framework will be used to complete the documentary data analysis. Framework analysis will be used to analyse the qualitative data sets as it will allow for patterns, trends and themes to emerge.

Ethics and dissemination: As this study will involve participants from Zambia, Australia and the UK, ethics approval will be sought in both the UK and Zambia. The study will be registered with the National Health Research Authority (Zambia).

Implications for Practice: There is limited research on the impact of an international virtual mentorship programme for specialist nurses. In consequence, this research study will generate new knowledge and insights into the barriers and enablers regarding international mentorship programmes for specialist nurses.

Introduction

Mentorship is globally accepted as an important strategy for enhancing nursing practice and careers (Kulik and Nguyen, 2017). However, the term mentorship has different meanings and is often used interchangeably with other terms such as coaching (Manzi et al, 2017). Setati and Nkosi (2017) suggest that confusion has arisen due to the different roles mentors and mentees undertake, resulting in what they describe as a 'mentoring chameleon'. Therefore, for this study the term mentorship is applied horizontally with mentee and mentors seen as peers. The advantage of this approach is that contributions from each participant seen as having equal value which facilitates knowledge exchange and transfer through bi-directional learning, recognising that different context and health systems need to share expertise to move the nursing agenda forward (Bain et al, 2023; Kulik and Nguyen, 2017). Therefore, in 2024, Birmingham City University in collaboration with the Ministry of Health in Zambia successfully gained funding to implement a remote international mentorship partnership scheme project, which involved linking critical care and neonatal intensive care nurses in the UK, Australia and Zambia. This proposed research study has been designed to evaluate the experiences of all mentors and mentees involved in the project.

Methods and Analysis

The research question for this proposed study is:

What are the experiences of participants involved in a remote mentoring programme between critical care and neonatal nurses in Zambia, Australia and the UK?

General Objective:

• Evaluation of the experiences of critical care and neonatal nurses involved in a remote mentorship project between Zambia, Australia and the UK.

Specific Objectives:

- Examination of the impact of the mentorship programme on individuals' professional development.
- Development of a mentorship model for the partnership
- Identification of lessons learnt as part of the project evaluation.

Research Design

To evaluate the impact of a remote international mentorship scheme for neonatal and critical care nurses an exploratory descriptive qualitative methodology using an interpretive methodology will be used. Semi-structured interviews will facilitate exploration of participants' experiences, as this approach seeks to investigate unknown or poorly understood topics. It also allows participants to describe their experiences in their own words, to address the questions raised in this proposed study (Thompson et al., 2021). Framework analysis will be used to analyse the qualitative data sets as it will allow for patterns, trends and themes to emerge and is designed to address specific questions (Gale et al., 2013). However, it is recognised that experience can only be appraised in the health system and policies in which they are implemented, therefore, documentary data analysis will be used to explore and extract from national and project documentation.

The Critical Care Nurses Association of Zambia (CCNAZ) will complete the evaluation with participants in Zambia and the Birmingham City University, Centre for International Health Partnerships will complete the evaluation with UK and Australian participants. The international research team will complete documentary data analysis of national policies and partnership project documents (evaluations, reports, communications from funders) to provide context and detail for the evaluation. Daglish et al (2018) READ framework will be used to complete the documentary data analysis. This includes reading the materials, extracting data, analysing and distilling the findings.

Study Setting

This proposed study involves participants from Zambia, Australia and the UK. Participants in Zambia work in Ministry of Health hospitals across five Provinces. UK and Australian participants work in public hospitals, NGOs or universities.

Sample size determination and sampling

Participants who were involved in the remote mentorship project and consent to participate in this study will be included. A maximum of 19 participants (11 International and 8 Zambian) will be invited to participate in the study. As this study will use total population sampling from the remote mentoring project; sample size estimation will not be used. A participant information sheet will be shared via email and potential participants will be asked to contact the researchers. Participants who agree to participate will be re-sent the participant information sheet and consent form one week prior to the interview.

The participant information sheet includes a section on withdrawal. Participants can withdraw from the study at any point up until the analysis of the findings. However, it is important to note that no pressure will be used for participants to join the study, and the data collection will take place once the mentorship has completed (June 2025). The participant information sheet also includes details of the researchers and both University of Zambia and Birmingham City University ethics offices.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria:

- Mentors and Mentees who participated in the remote mentorship project and consent to participate. Exclusion criteria:
 - Participants not involved as mentors or mentees in the remote mentoring project
 - Participants from the remote mentoring project who do not consent to participate.

Data Collection

To evaluate the impact of a remote international mentorship scheme for neonatal and critical care nurses a qualitative study using documentary data analysis and individual interviews will be conducted. Documentary data analysis of partnership project documents (evaluations, reports, communications from funders) will be used to provide context and detail to the evaluation. A grid will be used using the Daglesh et al (2018) criteria and each document will be reviewed by the International Research Team (Zambia / UK). This approach will also provide transparency.

All individual interviews will be conducted virtually via BCU MS Teams. Virtual individual interviews were chosen as participants are geographically spread internationally and it will not be possible to co-ordinate the availability for face-to-face interviews of participants due to shift work. This approach will allow all participants regardless of location to participate and share their perceptions and experiences through their own words and perspectives (Clarke et al., 2021).

Interviews will be audio recorded via MS Teams and automatically transcribed by the programme. Transcripts will then be checked for accuracy and anonymized before analysis, by the international research team, who will use framework analysis to identify patterns, trends and themes.

Data Analysis

Documentary data analysis using Daglish et al (2018) READ framework will be used to structure the review, by the international research team. Framework analysis will be used to address the questions raised during interviews, to identify patterns, trends and themes (Goldsmith, 2021. Klingberg et al., 2024). During the transcription stage, all personal identifiable information will be removed to ensure anonymity and confidentiality. Transcripts will then be checked by the international research team with the recordings of the interviews to confirm the transcription is accurate. The two datasets will be presented in an integrated format as they are complimentary for reports and publication.

Methodological Rigour

As this is a qualitative study trustworthiness and authenticity will be used to assess the rigour of the research process (Johnson et al., 2020). Credibility will be assessed through reviewing the prolonged engagement with participants. Dependability will be maintained through a clear and systematic approach to data collection and analysis. A detailed audit trail will be maintained, documenting all decisions made throughout the research process. Confirmability will include using a reflexive approach by all researchers who acknowledge and critically reflect on their own positions, potential biases, and influences on data interpretation (Johnson et al., 2020. Tobin & Begley, 2004). Regular peer debriefing and independent coding by multiple researchers further enhances this aspect of trustworthiness. Transferability although originally designed to consider whether findings could be theoretically transferred, it is now increasingly used to access whether findings could be applied to other similar groups (Johnson et al., 2020). The study will yield rich, thick descriptions of the research context, participant demographics, and study findings, allowing readers to assess the applicability of the results to their own settings. Authenticity the second concept for qualitative studies can only be assessed on completion of the study as the different components are dependent on the outcomes (Ahmed., 2024). Therefore, authenticity will be assessed as the final stage within the evaluation. By incorporating these strategies, this study will be conducted using a rigorous and trustworthy exploration of the remote international mentorship scheme's impact on neonatal and critical care nurses.

Discussion

Remote mentorship between international partners became a mainstay method to support activities during the Covid-19 pandemic and proved to be successful and in consequence, has continued. The benefits of virtual activities include reduced costs spent on local, national and international travel. Making fewer international flights and participants attending workshops reduces the environmental impact and increases the opportunities for engagement, as more participants across a wider geographical area can participate. However, there are several limitations, including the cost of using the internet and problems with access to laptops and the internet. In addition, evidence has shown that nurses may have limited digital e-health literacy, which may be a barrier to engaging in virtual activities (Shiferaw et al, 2020). However, it is important to note

that although knowledge can increase through virtual activities, this approach cannot replace clinical competence (Notter et al., 2024. Carter et al., 2022).

Remote mentorship programmes have shown mixed success, there is limited research on the impact of virtual activities for specialist nurses, in consequence, this research study will generate new knowledge and insights into the barriers and enablers regarding international mentorship programmes for specialist nurses. This will be one of the first studies exploring the experiences of all participants (mentors and mentees). Previous studies have focused on one aspect only, for example, the mentors or mentees. Therefore, the emphasis on this project has been both roles being equal, with all participants seen as experts in their specialist areas. This will give data on equal mentoring and the impact on all participants, this is seen as important as often as the flow of information can be seen as one way i.e. from a high-income country to a low-income country. However, increasingly there is recognition that both sides benefits and in previous projects UK Emergency and Critical Care Nurses who have worked in-country have reported improvement in their practice and leadership skills (Skopec et al., 2019; Issa et al., 2021). Whilst this study is about remote / virtual mentoring, the principles of knowledge, exchange and transfer are still relevant.

Ethics and Dissemination

Ethics approval has been gained from Birmingham City University (Ref: #14312 /sub2 /R(C) /2025 /Feb /HELS FAEC. Dated 17th February 2025) and will be sought from University of Zambia. The study will also be registered with the National Health Research Authority in Zambia.

References

Ahmed SK. (2024). The pillars of trustworthiness in qualitative research. J *Med, Surg & Public Health*. 2: 100051. DOI: 10.1016/j.glmedi.2024.100051.

Bain LE. Mbouamba Yankam B et al. (2023). Global health mentorship: challenges and opportunities for equitable partnership. *BMJ Glob Health*. 8(11): e013751. DOI: 10.1136/bmjgh-2023-013751

Carter C., Mukonka PS., Sitwala LJ., Mulawisha G., Notter J. (2021). The 'sleeping elephant': The role of mentorship of critical care nurses in Zambia. *Int Nurs Rev.* 68(4):543-550. DOI: 10.1111/inr.12717.

Clarke T., Foster L., Sloan L., Bryman A. (2021). Bryman's Social Research Methods. 6th Edition. Oxford University Press

Dalglish SL., Khalid H., McMahon SA. (2021). Document analysis in health policy research: the READ approach. *Health Policy Plan*. 35(10):1424-1431. DOI: 10.1093/heapol/czaa064.

Gale NK., Heath G., Cameron E. et al. (2013). Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 13(117). DOI: 10.1186/1471-2288-13-117

Goldsmith L. (2021). Using Framework Analysis in Applied Qualitative Research. *The Qualitative Report*. 26(6) DOI:10.46743/2160-3715/2021.501

Johnson JL., Adkins D., Chauvin S. (2020). A Review of the Quality Indicators of Rigor in Qualitative Research. *Am J Pharm Educ.* 84(1): 7120. DOI: 10.5688/ajpe7120.

Klingberg S., Stalmeijer RE., Varpio, L. (2023). Using framework analysis methods for qualitative research: AMEE Guide No. 164. *Medical Teacher*. 46(5): 603–610. DOI: 10.1080/0142159X.2023.2259073

Kulik CM. Nguyen VNB. Virtual mentoring for early career nurses, educators, and researchers. Presentation at the 44th Biennial Convention 2017: Influence Through Action: Advancing Global Health, Nursing, and Midwifery. 2017. https://hdl.handle.net/10755/623536

Manzi A, Hirschhorn LR, Sherr K, Chirwa C, Baynes C, Awoonor-Williams JK. Mentorship and coaching to support strengthening healthcare systems: lessons learned across the five Population Health Implementation and Training partnership projects in sub-Saharan Africa. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2017;17(Suppl 3):831. DOI: 10.1186/s12913-017-2656-7

Notter J., Carter C., Muyunda L., Nakazwe N. (2024). Virtual mentorship: the opportunities and limitations for nurses in international health partnerships. *Br J Nurs.* 33(9): 408-410. doi: 10.12968/bjon.2024.33.9.408

Setati C. Nkosi ZZ. (2017). The perceptions of professional nurses on student mentorship in clinical areas: A study in Polokwane municipality hospitals, Limpopo province. *Health SA Gesondheid*. 22: 130–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hsaq.2017.01.008

Shiferaw KB., Mehar EA., Eshete T. (2020). eHealth literacy and internet use among undergraduate nursing students in a resource limited country: A cross-sectional study. *Informatics in Medicine Unlocked*. 18: 100273. doi.org/10.1016/j.imu.2019.100273

Skopec M., Issa H., Harris M. (2019). Delivering cost effective healthcare through reverse innovation. *BMJ*. 367: I6205. doi:10.1136/bmj.I6205

Thompson Burdine J., Thorne S., Sandhu G. (2021). Interpretive description: A flexible qualitative methodology for medical education research. *Med Educ*.;55(3):336-343. doi: 10.1111/medu.14380

Tobin GA., Begley CM. (2004). Methodological rigour within a qualitative framework. *J Adv Nurs*. 48(4):388-96. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2004.03207.x.

Funding Statement: This work was supported through the Remote International Mentorship Partnership Scheme (RIMPS) administered by the Global Health Partnerships, formerly Tropical Health and Education Trust.

Competing Interest: Non declared.

Patient and public involvement: Patients and/or the public were involved in the design, conduct or reporting or dissemination plans of this research project.

Patient Consent for Publication: Not applicable

Cross Sectional Survey of Critical Care Provision in Zambia

Richard Kahalu, Chris Carter, Joy Notter

Email: richard.kahalu@mail.bcu.ac.uk

Abstract

Introduction: Zambia has been providing education programmes for critical care nurses for over a decade and during that time critical care services have been gradually increasing. However, the recent Covid-19 pandemic revealed gaps remained pervading critical care service provision in many low-income countries including Zambia. In consequence, there is urgent need to understand the national provision and utilisation of critical care services in Zambia.

Aim: To undertake a survey in identified hospitals in each Province to evaluate current critical care staffing, service provision and patient case-mix post Covid-19.

Methods and analysis Using a cross-sectional survey methodology an e-survey questionnaire of 13 hospitals representing all hospitals in Zambia will be included in this study.

Ethics and dissemination: Ethics approval has been gained in both Zambia and the UK. The study has also been registered with the National Health Research Authority.

Implications for Practice: It is accepted that critical care is a cross cutting acute service that is an essential component of health systems and universal healthcare access. Critical care services need to be integrated into healthcare systems; however, it is important these services are appropriately used to maximise efficiency and effectiveness of a resource intensive service.

Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) (2025a), argues that robust critical care services, are integral for effective healthcare system delivery. Critical care services are essential for managing severe and life-threatening conditions. However, it is a cause for concern that globally provision remains unevenly distributed, particularly in low-income countries (LIC) (Spencer et al., 2023). The recent Covid-19 pandemic highlighted the wide gaps in critical care provision in many LIC (Arabi et al., 2021). Following the pandemic it has been increasingly accepted that critical care is an essential part of healthcare systems and universal healthcare access (Spencer et al., 2023).

Zambia is a LIC in central Africa, with a population of approximately 22 million people, with most of the population living in the rural setting (WHO, 2025b). Critical care nurses and physician anaesthesia education commenced over a decade ago and provision of critical care services have been increasing during this time (Carter & Notter, 2023). Therefore, this proposed study will review the current provision of critical care services nationally, which will increase understanding of the organisation, workforce and resourcing, which will support policy planning for critical care services. This will allow for benchmarking of service provision against other countries within the region and make recommendations to enhance access and provision of critical care. Currently, Zambia, lacks comprehensive data on the organisation, resources, and capacity of critical care units (CCUs). The limited availability of data adversely affects efforts to improve critical care services and outcomes.

A critical review of the literature confirmed the need for this study as no cross-sectional studies from Zambia were found. From the evidence available, critical care services must not be seen in isolation within a healthcare system and the review highlighted that there was a focus on equipment, resourcing and workforce, rather than the nursing workforce. Therefore, this proposed cross-sectional survey was identified as necessary step to assess the current state of CCUs, identify key challenges, and provide data-driven recommendations for enhancing critical care delivery. A detailed report will be compiled and submitted to Ministry of Health (MOH) for the purpose of developing local and national policies.

Methods and Analysis

Research Design

A cross-sectional survey has been chosen as it will allow participation from identified critical care units across the country and is a cost-effective approach as it also allows for collection of data on multiple variables at a single time point. The data collection tool has adapted from a cross-sectional survey carried out in Malawi by Sonethal et al (2022). Sharma et al (2021) point out responses from e-questionnaire can be more accurate

due to non-third-party handling and misinterpretation and respondents may be more honest when they are responding in their own space online as compared to a face-to-face administered questionnaire, as the respondent is almost certain of anonymity. Therefore, this survey uses an e-questionnaire.

It is accepted that a limitation of using an e-questionnaire is that responses may contain some errors due to misunderstanding of the questions and a lack of access to the researcher preventing clarification. Using a previously published questionnaire as the basis for this study potentially reduces misunderstandings. In addition, the email and phone number for the principal investigator will be provided to enable participating hospitals to address any concerns when completing the questionnaire. Approval to complete this study has been given from the Ministry of Health, with each Senior Medical Superintendent approving for the study to take place in their hospitals, therefore, an acceptable response rate is likely.

Study Setting

This study will involve 13 Ministry of Health hospitals with representation from each Province in Zambia. The hospitals selected have functioning critical care units and thus, the findings may be generalised to other hospitals. Proposed hospitals include 2 national referral hospitals, 3 university teaching hospitals, 7 general hospitals and 1 district hospital. The study focus will be on adult and paediatric ICUs, no neonatal ICU will be included in the study.

Target Population

Data will include a retrospective review of admission data over a 7-day period. Information regarding the critical care workforce and provision will be collected and analysed. The study will be conducted during a 3-month period.

Sample size determination and sampling

This study will employ purposive sampling by identifying hospitals in every province that have a functioning critical care unit. A total of 13 hospitals have been identified by the Ministry of Health. Records of patients admitted to critical care during the last 7 days (approximately 100 files) will also be included in total with each hospital contributing 5 to 8 files each with the bigger and busy hospitals contributing a higher number of files and finally the workforce records regarding rotas, staff qualifications (approximately 100 in total) will be used in this study.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria hospitals identified by the Ministry of Health and those that agree to participate in the study through their SMS. Exclusion criteria include hospitals not identified by the Ministry of Health, those that choose not to participate in the study and hospitals with neonatal intensive care units.

Data collection

Potential participants will be contacted by letter from the SMS, this will include an information leaflet detailing the study. Once approval has been given, the questionnaires will be sent out via email using a unique URL, therefore, all responses returned will be anonymous. The URL link will take participants to the form to guarantee anonymity and names and contact details will not appear on the data capturing tool.

Participants will be allowed to ask any questions they may have on the project by contacting the Principal Investigator. The questionnaire link will be sent to each hospital point of contact, provided by the SMS and therefore the Principal Investigator will have no contact / access with databases. Data will be stored on Birmingham City University's OneDrive, access through a password protected computer. Only the project team will have access to the raw data. When reviewing the raw data all data will be anonymised.

Hospitals and participants can withdraw from the study up until submission of their questionnaire. However, once the questionnaire has been submitted it will not be possible to withdraw from the study, as the researcher has no means of identifying individuals' responses. Participants will be made aware of this in the information sheet. As this study will use anonymised data that is routinely collected and available in hospitals, the Ministry of Health does not require individual patient consent for the data collection

Data analysis

This research project involves retrospective data collection of information routinely available within CCU, therefore, no physical risks have been identified. However, it is accepted data collection by hospitals will involve time, therefore, sufficient time will be given to allow for data collection. Also, as outlined above, the Principal Investigator will be available via telephone to answer any queries or provide support.

The closed questions will be analysed using SPSS with a focus on descriptive statistics. Where possible test for significant difference such as Chi Squared will be used as much of the data will be nominal or ordinal data. A T-test will be used for parametric data. For open ended questions, data will be coded and analysed using thematic analysis.

Methodological rigour

Using a previously validated and published questionnaire conducted within the region will support reliability and validity (Ahmed, 2024). To enhance validity triangulation of the different datasets will be used. As this study will involve hospitals from every province within Zambia the findings may be generalisable to other hospitals within the country. A comprehensive audit trail documenting research decision, procedures and any changes to the study will enhance reliability and validity. Monthly supervisory meetings with research supervisors and reflexive diary will be used to improve the audit trail.

Discussion

This protocol aims to undertake country-wide survey research and evaluate levels of critical care staffing, service provision and patient case-mix. The findings from this study will provide recommendations to guide policy development into critical care education, admission guidelines, safe staffing and provision of adequate medical surgical supplies to all CCUs in the country. This will allow for benchmarking of service provision against other countries within the region and make recommendations to enhance access and provision of critical care in Zambia.

Research findings will be disseminated locally and nationally, through research dissemination events. This will include publication of a Master of Science dissertation, conference presentations and publications in peer-reviewed journals. Preparation of peer reviewed publications will be in accordance with the standards for reporting cross sectional surveys (von Elm et al., 2017). It is also important to note, that research generated by local researchers and resulting recommendations may have a better uptake among African policy markers than research produced internationally as it is culturally and context specific (London et al., 2014; Morel et al., 2018; Kasprowicz et al., 2020).

Ethics and dissemination

The study protocol has been approved by both UK and Zambian research ethics committees (University of Zambia Biomedical Research Ethics Committee. Reference: 6115-2024. Dated 18th December 2024 and Birmingham City University, Faculty of Health, Education & Life Sciences Ethics Committee. Reference: #13680/sub3/R(C)/2024/Oct/HELS FAEC. Dated 5th November 2024). The study has also been registered with the National Health Research Authority in Zambia a legal requirement Reference: # NHRAR-R-2326/20/12/2024. Dated 23rd December 2024. In addition, the Ministry of Health in Zambia has approved this study and provided permission for this study to be undertaken in public hospitals.

References

Ahmed SK. (2024). The pillars of trustworthiness in qualitative research. *J Med, Surg & Public Health*. 2: 100051. DOI: 10.1016/j.glmedi.2024.100051.

Arabi YM., Azoulay E., Al-Dorzi HM. et al., (2021). How the COVID-19 pandemic will change the future of critical care. *Int Care Med*. 47: 282–291 Doi.org/10.1007/s00134-021-06352-y

Carter C, Notter J. (2023). Evaluation of an international health partnership to capacity build emergency, trauma and critical care nurse education and practice in Zambia: An experience from the field. *Int Nurs Rev.* 70(3):266-272. doi: 10.1111/inr.12813.

Kasprowicz VO., Chopera D., Waddilove KD., et al. (2020). African-led health research and capacity Building-is it working. *BMC Public Health*. 20:1104. doi:10.1186/s12889-020-08875-3

London L., Naledi T., Petros S. (2014). Health research in the Western Cape province, South Africa: lessons and challenges. *Afr J Prim Health Care Fam Med*. 6: E1–7. doi:10.4102/phcfm.v6i1.698

Morel T., Maher D., Nyirenda T., et al. (2018). Strengthening health research capacity in sub-Saharan Africa: mapping the 2012-2017 landscape of externally funded International postgraduate training at institutions in the region. *Global Health*. 14. doi:10.1186/s12992-018-0395-0

Sharma M., Batra K., Davis R. E., Wilkerson AH. (2021, January). Explaining handwashing behaviour in a sample of college students during COVID-19 pandemic using the multi-theory model (MTM) of health behaviour change: a single institutional cross-sectional survey. *Healthcare*. 9 (1): 55. doi: 10.3390/healthcare9010055

Sonenthal PD., Nyirenda M., Kasomekera N., Marsh RH., Wroe EB., Scott KW., et al. (2022). The Malawi emergency and critical care survey: A cross-sectional national facility assessment. *EClinicalMedicine*. 44: 101245. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.101245.

Spencer SA., Adipa FE., Baker T., et al., (2023). A health systems approach to critical care delivery in low-resource settings: a narrative review. *Int Care Medi*. 49(7): 772-784.

von Elm E., Altman DG., Egger M., Pocock SJ., Gøtzsche PC., Vandenbroucke JP. (2007). STROBE Initiative. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. *Bull World Health Organ*. 85(11):867-72. doi: 10.2471/blt.07.045120.

World Health Organization. (2025a). Integrated emergency, critical and operative care. https://www.who.int/teams/integrated-health-services/clinical-services-and-systems/emergency--critical-and-operative-care [Accessed 4/02/25]

World Health Organization. (2025b). Zambia. https://data.who.int/countries/894 [Accessed 08/03/25]

Funding Statement: This work was supported by Research England International Science Partnership Fund (ISPF) Institutional Support Grant (ODA). Project Notification Number 5452

Competing Interests Statement: None declared.

Patient and public involvement: Patients and/or the public were involved in the design, conduct or reporting or dissemination plans of this research project.

Patient Consent for Publication: Not applicable.

MSc Professional Practice Dissertation Showcase

Each academic year as part of the Birmingham City University Professional Practice provision in Zambia, final year MSc students participate in an MSc Dissertation Showcase. The event provides them with an opportunity to share the findings from their studies and presented their work to date. We are delighted to include some selected abstracts to demonstrate the breadth and depth of the work completed to date. This year, the event was chaired by Prof Maxine Lintern, Pro-Vice Chancellor for Research and guests from our collaborating partners at the Lusaka College of Nursing and University Teaching Hospital, as well as current and former BCU students.

Exploring the roles and function of critical care nurses as clinical leaders in Botswana **Itumeleng Michael**

Email: itumeleng.michael@mail.bcu.ac.uk

KEYWORDS: Critical Care Nurses (CCNs), Roles, Functions, Grounded Theory (GT), Clinical Leadership (CL)

INTRODUCTION: Critical care nursing in Botswana is a new addition to the nursing profession and is still evolving with approximately 40 trained critical care nurses (CCNs). CCNs require both clinical competencies and clinical leadership (CL) skills, the higher-level knowledge and skills essential to improve outcomes, implement evidenced based practice and influence health policy development (Fakuda et al, 2020; Mankinson et al, 2018).

AIMS: This presentation gives an overview of the method chosen for this study which aims to understand the roles and function of CCNs, CL and the factors facilitating or hindering their leadership development.

METHOD: Straussian Grounded Theory (GT) (1978) will be used with the aim of beginning theory development (Saunders et al, 2023). Purposive sampling will be used to identify appropriate participants. Simultaneous data collection and analysis, is a core component of GT, using the accepted strategies for analysing and interpreting collected data, constantly comparing codes, concepts and categories (Turner et al., 2021). In line with the GT approach chosen, relevant literature will be incorporated throughout the study.

FINDINGS: GT is designed to enable researchers to work towards consensus from participants and ultimately, if possible, to develop tentative theoretical concepts and ultimately theories.

IMPLICATIONS FOR PRACTICE: The findings from this study will provide increased insight into how CCNs perceive their roles as CL, thereby supporting the design of focused leadership development programmes in Botswana.

REFERENCES

Alsadaan N. Salamen B. Reshia FAAE. Alruwaili RF. Ali SAA et al. (2023). Impact of nurse leaders behaviours on nursing staff performance: A systematic review of literature. *Journal of Health Care Organisation, Provision and Financing*. 60: 20- 26 https://doi.org//10.1177/00469580231178528

Turner C. Astin F. (2021). Grounded theory: what makes a grounded theory study? *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*. 20: 285-289 https://academic.oup.com/eurjcn/article/20/3/285/6190569

Exploring the views of Emergency Department Nurses at a Tertiary Hospital in Zambia on Emergency Preparedness

Ireen Kabwe

Email: <u>ireen.kabwe@mail.bcu.ac.uk</u>

KEYWORDS: Emergency Preparedness, Emergency Nursing, Grounded Theory

BACKGROUND: The Global Burden of Disease (2019) records 7% of all deaths in Zambia are caused by trauma. Emergency preparedness is one of the main components in the management of emergencies and determines the outcome of emergency situations (Todorovic et al., 2020). Research studies have also reported that inadequacies of ED Nurses in emergency preparedness can lead to poor outcomes (Chegini et al., 2022; McNeill et al., 2020).

AIMS: This presentation is to provide critical overview of the chosen approach to understand the views of emergency department nurses on Emergency Preparedness.

METHOD: This proposed study explores the views of ED nurses on preparedness for emergencies in their department. This study will take the interpretivist paradigm as it has been designed to explore the perceptions and experiences of participants (O'Donoghue, 2018). Using a Grounded Theory approach data collection and analysis will be undertaken concurrently (Bryant and Charmaz, 2014). The method of data collection will be through face to face semi structured interviews, a primary mode of data collection in qualitative research (Campbell et al, 2017). Face to face interviews are the are gold standard method of interviews (Deakin and Wakefied, 2014).

Analysis will follow Charmaz (2014) approach for coding and data will be grouped according to patterns and variations to contribute to formation of a core category. Patterns and relationships will emerge through an ongoing simultaneous cyclic process of data collection and analysis. Categories will be collected together to form constructs and connections as a first step towards tentative theory development (Urquhart, 2013).

IMPLICATIONS FOR PRACTICE: Emergency preparedness is a crucial element of emergency care, and it is essential that nurses have the knowledge and skills to provide optimum care for patients. In the absence of current evidence in Zambia, this study will one of the first nurse led studies by Emergency and Critical Care Nurses for Emergency Nurses.

REFERENCES

Charmaz K. (2015) Grounded theory. Qualitative psychology: A practical guide to research methods. 3: 53-84.

McNeill C, Adams L, Heagele T, Swanson M, Alfred D. (2020) Emergency Preparedness Competencies Among Nurses. JONA: *Journal of Nursing Administration*. 50 (7/8): 407-413

Chegini Z. Arab-Zozani M. Kakemam E. Lotfi M. Nobakht A. Hanieh AK. (2022) Disaster preparedness and core competencies among emergency nurses: A cross-sectional study. *Nursing Open.* 9(2), pp. 1294-1302

A Quality Improvement Project to Evaluate the Use of the Ventilator Care Bundle

Ndaona Regina Botha

Email: Ndaona.Botha@mail.bcu.ac.uk

KEYWORDS: Ventilator Associated Pneumonia (VAP), Ventilator Care Bundle (VCB), Plan-Do-Study-Act (PDSA), Quality Improvement Project (QIP)

BACKGROUND: Ventilator Associated Pneumonia (VAP) accounts for approximately 9-27% of all hospital-acquired infections in Intensive Care Units (ICU). The Ventilator Care Bundle (VCB) consisting of evidence-based practices has shown to reduce incidences of VAP; however, the effectiveness of its use in Malawi's ICUs is unknown.

AIM: To present and discuss the use of the Plan, Do, Study Act (PDSA) as part of a Quality Improvement Project (QIP) to introduce the VCB into an ICU in Malawi.

METHOD: The PDSA is an accepted approach to QIP, it facilitates ongoing adjustments based on emerging findings and feedback, supporting continuous improvement in clinical practice. This proposed study will complete one PDSA cycle as outlined below:

- Plan: Preparation and planning the following three phases, this will include force field analysis, logical framework, Gantt chart, risk analysis and stakeholder engagement.
- Do: Baseline data collection, identify current ventilator care practices with the ventilator care bundle
 and current VAP rates. Develop and deliver a train the trainer package in response to findings from
 the plan phase. Introduce the VCB bundle in ICU and record progress, adjustments of previous VCB
 protocols.
- Study: Record and analyse results to identify the impact of the VCB and any additional measures needed.
- Act: Reflect on the adoption of the VCB into standardised practice into daily ICU routine and review the effectiveness of the PDSA cycle.

RESULTS: Qualitative data will be analysed using thematic data analysis by categorising common themes and coding them for qualitative data. Quantitative data will be analysed using descriptive statistics for the retrospective data review of quantitative datasets such as VAP incidence and prevalence, identified pre and post intervention.

IMPLICATIONS FOR PRACTICE: Despite VCB proven to be effective in reducing VAP incidence, it remains to be a common complication in mechanical ventilation. There is need for further research on enhancing consistency efficacy across all ICU settings, hence the need for this study, one of the first nursing QIP in Malawi.

REFERENCES

Knudsen S. Laursen H. Johnsen S. Bartels P. Ehlers L. Mainz J. (2019). Can quality improvement improve the quality of care? A systematic review of reported effects and methodological rigor in plan-do-study-act projects. *BMC Health Services Research*. 19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4482-6.

Papazian L. Klompas M. Luyt C. (2020). Ventilator-associated pneumonia in adults: a narrative review. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 46: 888 - 906. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00134-020-05980-0.

Zamboni K. Baker U. Tyagi M. Schellenberg J. Hill Z. Hanson C. (2020). How and under what circumstances do quality improvement collaboratives lead to better outcomes? A systematic review. *Implementation Science*. IS, 15.

Utilisation of Ventilator Care Bundle for Patients in the Emergency Department

Patricia Banda

Email: patricia.banda@mail.bcu.ac.uk

KEYWORDS: Ventilator care bundle, mechanical ventilation, Emergency Department, utilisation.

BACKGROUND: It is internationally recognized that all mechanical ventilated patients must have immediate access to a critical care nurse with a post-basic qualification in critical care (World Federation of Critical Care Nurses (2019). However, Bayrama and Sancıb (2019) points out, ventilated patients can also be found in other critical care areas such as Emergency Department (ED). If they remain in ED for more than 5 hours, their mortality is significantly higher than that of patients admitted a critical care unit. Safety strategies such as Ventilator Care Bundle are recognised as reducing ventilator associated pneumonia (VAP), ventilator days and mortality. However, their use in the ED in low-resource setting is unknown.

AIM: To critically review the literature relating to the use of the ventilator care bundle in the ED.

METHODS: A systematic literature review was conducted on PubMed, CINAHL, and Science Direct databases from 2018 to 2024.

FINDINGS: Hassan and Elsaman (2022) and Mastrogianni (2023) indicated in units where there was compliance with ventilator care bundles had VAP reduction as well as reduced morbidity and mortality, reduced time on mechanical ventilation and reduced hospital stay. Rehmani (2024) report that in low-income countries, nurses had low to moderate knowledge and compliance in using the ventilator care bundle.

IMPLICATIONS FOR PRACTICE: Evidence has shown use of the ventilator care bundle reduces VAP and duration of mechanical ventilation. Further research is needed to assess compliance and consistency of use of ventilator care in low-income countries.

REFERENCES

Mastrogianni M. Katsoulas T. Galanis P. Korompeli A. Myrianthefs P. (2023). The Impact of Care Bundles on Ventilator-Associated Pneumonia (VAP) Prevention in Adult ICUs: A Systematic Review. *Antibiotics*. 20;12(2):227. doi: 10.3390/antibiotics12020227.

Hassan EA. Elsaman SE. (2022). Relationship between ventilator bundle compliance and the occurrence of ventilator-associated events: a prospective cohort study. *BMC Nurs*. 21: 207. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-022-00997-w

Rehmani Al. Au A. Montgomery C. Papathanassoglou E. (2024). Use of nursing care bundles for the prevention of ventilator-associated pneumonia in low-middle income countries: A scoping review. *Nurs Crit Care*. 1-24. doi:10.1111/nicc.13076

A Quality Improvement Project to Improve the Nursing Care of Critically III Patients with Burns

Mable Nsonga

Email: Mable.Nsonga@mail.bcu.ac.uk

KEYWORDS: Burns, treatment, care, management

BACKGROUND: It is a cause for concern that an estimated 1.4 million burn injuries occur in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), accounting for over 15% of all worldwide burns with a significant morbidity and mortality (Zachary, et, al.,2021). Burns in central SSA have the highest significant impact on those under the age of 5 years, although southern SSA reports the greatest number are the 15-to-49-year age group. Barriers to quality care, include financial constraints, social stigma, political strife, inaccessible healthcare facilities, limited peri-operative resources and low workforce capacity.

AIMS: To present the Plan, Do, Study, Act (PDSA) cycle that will be used to improve nursing care of critically ill patients with burns.

METHODOLOGY The PDSA cycle, a systematic process will be used. It consists of four phases:

- Plan: will include developing the force field analysis, local frameworks, Gant Charts, risk analysis and stakeholder engagement and working groups.
- Do: will involve several research activities including a retrospective review of documentation and a
 pre-study knowledge test which will be used to develop a train the trainer package and introduce the
 role of Burns Link Nurses to cascade train, mentor and guide other nurses. A repeat retrospective
 chart review will be conducted and a further knowledge test after 3 months.
- Study will involve recording and analysing each stage to identify the impact of the role of Burns Link Nurses. offer the pre-test to participants and observation from clinical practice by use of a checklist. A post-test to evaluate knowledge retention and to determine the next phase of the project whether to reinforce, re-train. Pilot the implementation and integrate new practice.
- Act: critically reflect on the introduction of the Burns training package and Burns Link Nurses

IMPLICATIONS OF PRACTICE: Critically ill patients with burns require complex care and are frequently admitted to critical care units in LIC. In consequence, it is crucial that critical care nurses have the knowledge and skills in order to improve patient outcomes

REFERENCES

Bettencourt AP. Romanowski KS et al. (2020). Agreement of clinical assessment of burn size and burn depth between referring hospitals and burn centres: A systematic review. *Journal of Burn Care & Research*. 41 (5): 1052-1062

Collier ZJ, Naidu P. Choi KJ. (2021). Burn Injuries in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Global Burden of Disease Study. *Journal of Burns Care & Research*. 42 (1): S57-S58. Doi.org/10.1093/jbcr/irab032.087

Cross Sectional Survey of Critical Care Provision in Zambia

Richard Kahalu

Email: Richard.Kahalu@mail.bcu.ac.uk

KEYWORDS: Critical Care, Low-income country, Literature Review

INTRODUCTION: Zambia has been offering education programmes for critical care nurses for over a decade and critical care services have been gradually increasing. However, the recent Covid-19 pandemic revealed gaps pervading across critical care service provision in many low-income countries including Zambia (Siaw-Frimpong et al, 2020). In consequence, there is urgent need to understand the national provision and utilisation of critical care services in Zambia.

AIM; To critically examine the literature relating to critical care provision and utilisation in low-income countries in sub-Saharan Africa.

METHODS: Detailed systematic literature review was carried out using CINAHL, Cochrane, Pub Med and Medline from 2020 to 2024. 98 articles were found, but only 7 could be included in the study. From these 7 articles, 2 articles will be critically appraised using the CASP tool for their applicability to this proposed study.

FINDINGS: The 2 studies identified were cross-sectional studies from Malawi and Ghana. These were chosen as two of the few articles published within the sub-Saharan Africa region.

CONCLUSION: While these two studies have been used as an insight into critical care provision in Malawi and Ghana, they lacked information on capacity to train their own specialist nurses and doctors. In the absence of datasets from Zambia it supports this proposed study to complete a national cross-sectional survey.

IMPLICATIONS FOR PRACTICE: It is accepted that critical care is a cross cutting acute service that is an essential component of health systems and universal healthcare access. Critical care services need to be integrated into healthcare systems; however, it is important these services are appropriately used to maximise efficiency and effectiveness of a resource intensive service.

REFERENCES

Lozano R. Fullman N. Mumford JE et al. (2019). Measuring universal health coverage based on an index of effective coverage of health services in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. *The Lancet*. 396: 1250–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30750-9

Siaw-Frimpong M. Touray S. Sefa N. (2021). Capacity of intensive care units in Ghana. *Journal of Critical care*. 61: 76–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrc.2020.10.009

Sonenthal PD. Nyirenda M. Kasomeker N et al. (2022). The Malawi emergency & Critical Care Survey: A Cross-Sectional Survey National facility assessment. *eClinical Medicine*. 44: 101245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.101245

Enhancing Knowledge and Skills of Critical Care Nurses In Wound Care at a Leading Referral Hospital in Zambia: A Quality Improvement Project

Mwaka Angela Chongwe

Email: mwaka.chongwe@mail.bcu.ac.uk

KEYWORDS: Wounds, Wound care assessment, Aseptic technique.

BACKGROUND: Wound care is integral in prevention of wound infection and promoting recovery. Poor wound care results in undesirable outcomes including mortality and delayed recovery (Lacey, 2018; Canton et al., 2020). Key elements of wound care include aseptic wound care, pre-dressing pain assessment and management and comprehensive wound care documentation. Critical Care Nurses are in a unique position to improve wound care and outcomes (Conley, 2019). Therefore, it is essential that CCNs be trained to have the extended knowledge, skill and competence to lead and co-ordinate the multi-disciplinary team to improve wound care.

AIMS: To change and improve Critical Care Nurses practice in wound care through the implementation of a quality improvement project.

METHOD: Plan Do Study Act (PDSA) Change model was used (NHS, 2018).

- Plan: Gain approval from hospital management, form technical groups, review clinical practice, complete
 the forcefield analysis, logical framework, Gant chart, Risk assessment and mitigation, Stakeholder
 engagement, and develop communication strategy
- **Do**: Development of teams, Review of RN & RCCN curriculum, Development of wound care training package & materials, Development of wound care documentation chart. Implementation of training.
- **Study**: Analysis of RCCNs (pre, post, sustainability test), Pain assessment and management, Wound care documentation chart, development of a additional resources identified including a Decision Making Tool/ Algorithm.
- Act: Critical reflection and review of the QIP, Lessons learnt in project management and conclusion, recommendations for the QIP and future initiatives

IMPLICATIONS FOR PRACTICE: RCCNs' knowledge and skills' levels improved post training and was sustained after a further 2 months. Demonstrating the need ongoing assessment of the embedding of the changes in wound care practice in the Critical Care Unit. Importance of standardised wound care documentation and algorithm to support clinical decision making by critical care nurses.

REFERENCES

Conley P. (2019). Certified and Advanced Degree Critical Care Nurses Improve Patient Outcomes. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*. 38(2): 108–112.

NHS. (2018) Change model GAP analysis tool. Available at https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/change-model-gap-analysis-tool/

Powell K. Pujji OJS. Jeffery S. (2021). Wound healing: what is the NICE guidance from the UK? *Journal of Wound Care. 30*(3): 172-182.

Reduction of complications in critically ill patients needing enteral feeding in the Main Intensive Care Unit at a tertiary hospital in Zambia: A Quality Improvement Project

Sabelo Maphenduka

Email: sabelo.maphenduka@mail.bcu.ac.uk

KEYWORDS: Enteral Nutrition, Quality Improvement, Clinical Decision Making

BACKGROUND: Enhanced knowledge regarding provision of enteral nutrition (EN) for critically ill patients is essential for patient safety and to reduce complications. Metin et al's (2020) argue that the root cause of poor nutrition globally is lack of knowledge and practice. EN is a key nursing intervention for the critically ill, therefore, critical care nurses must have consolidated knowledge and skills to safeguard patients, reducing complications associated with undernutrition (Kurt & Ceyland, 2023).

AIM: To change and improve enteral nutrition practice through the development and implementation of a train-the-trainer toolkit.

METHOD: PLAN, DO, STUDY, ACT (PDSA) methodology was used over a period of three (3) months. This allowed project leads to assess nursing actions, design, change and monitor and evaluate the implementation process.

- PLAN: Planning and feasibility for the QIP, Force field analysis, Logical framework, Communication strategy, Stakeholder engagement and analysis, Risk assessment, Methods for data collection for the QIP and Ethics approval.
- DO: Implementation of key activities, gap analysis of curricula, baseline patient data collection, development of training materials, including pre and post testing. The start of peer mentorship by ten RCCNs.
- STUDY: Analysis of data sets from pre and impact testing, analysis of patient data to assess if change occurred and the development and implementation of additional resources to support sustainability e.g. EN algorithm for Critical Care Nurses.
- ACT: Reflections, conclusions and recommendations.

OUTCOMES: The pre-test results (65%) showed limited knowledge regarding EN. Post training showed an improvement with post-test results (85%) and impact assessment results (94%) overall. The results from the patients' records showed an 85% (n=17) improvement in delivery of the target 24-hour feeds.

IMPLICATIONS FOR PRACTICE: This study demonstrates the need for ongoing in-service training and that the QIP approach can change practice improving patient care and safety. However, additional context specific resources may be needed for sustainability such as the EN algorithm developed post training.

REFERENCES

Kurt H. Ceyhan Ö. (2023). The Effect of Enteral Nutrition Education Given to Intensive Care Nurses on Their Level of Knowledge. *Sağlık Bilimleri Dergisi*. *32*(1): 34-42.

Metin ZG. Pars H. (2020). Knowledge and Clinical Competence of Nurses Regarding Enteral Nutrition: A Descriptive, Cross-sectional, and Comparative Study. *Topics in Clinical Nutrition*. *35*(2): 104-115.

Author Guidelines

International Perspectives in Emergency, Trauma and Critical Care Nursing Journal

Guidance for Authors

The International Perspectives in Emergency, Trauma and Critical Care Nursing is the journal for students completing the Birmingham City University Professional Practice Adult Critical Care and Cardiac Care programmes and is published in collaboration with the Critical Care Nurses Association of Zambia (CCNAZ). The journal is managed by the BCU HELS Centre of International Health Partnerships and on completion of the education programmes, CCNAZ have agreed to continue the journal using it as a vehicle to promote emergency, trauma and critical care nursing across Zambia and the wider central Africa region. The journal spans the whole continuum of acute and critical care nursing and includes all aspects of adult, paediatric and neonatal critical care nursing including surgery, medicine, cardiac, renal, neurosciences and rehabilitation.

This peer reviewed international journal provides a platform for emergency, trauma and critical care nurses across our partnership to share nursing practice, research, education, or management relating to emergency, trauma and critical care nursing. This will support and facilitate opportunities for nurses to learn publication skills, to enable them to share and disseminate best practice. The ethos of the journal is the promotion of quality and excellence of care for acute and critically ill patients. The journal will be published twice yearly and will be open access.

The journal is registered with an International Standard Serial Number (ISSN) reference number: 2976-9523

Articles from the following categories will be considered:

- Original research
- Quality improvement reports
- Systematic reviews with/without meta-analysis
- Reviews
- Current insights in emergency, trauma and critical care nursing
- Case studies
- Letters to the Editor
- Conferences & scientific meetings

Guidance for Authors

- Peer reviewed articles should be a maximum of 3,500 words (including references)
- Opinion pieces should be a maximum of 1,000 words (including references)
- Harvard Referencing should be used.
- Submissions double spaced and must include:
 - Abstract (maximum 300 words)
 - Key words
 - Front cover including:
 - All authors (in order of contribution)
 - Professional Qualifications for each author
 - Role and organisation for each author
- Contributors' photographs can be submitted as separate JPGs, not embedded in Word documents. These must have permission from all participants, patient consent and for under-18s parental consent. Authors must adhere to any data protection for their establishment/Institution. Proof of consent must be supplied with articles and ideally photos should be at least 300dpi (at least 1mb).
- Final decisions on publication are made by the editorial board.
- Authors can submit as many articles as they wish.
- If the editorial team have received many contributions, your article may be held for later editions.
- Please note that the editorial team will amend the final copy to suit our house style.

Submissions should be emailed to CIHP@bcu.ac.uk